RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN02-12-2018 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017AP002000 CR Milwaukee Circuit Court Case No. 16CT000525

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

MISTY D. DONOUGH,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

APPELLANT, MISTY D. DONOUGH'S
BRIEF OF
A FINAL ORDER OF THE
CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE
COUNTY,
JUDGE MICHELLE ACKERMAN HAVAS

BY: Wendy A. Patrickus 2266 N. Prospect Ave. Suite 509 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 881-8717 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant, Misty M. Donough

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED
STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
ARGUMENT10
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATIONS1
APPENDIX
Record on Appeal
Judgment of Conviction
Signed Stay Order
Transcript-Motion Hearing Excerpts A-App. 10

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

State v. Betow, 226 Wis.2d 90, 93, 94-95 593 N.W.2d 499
(Ct.App.1999)11,12
State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, ¶8, 19, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659
N.W.2d 39411
State v. Griffith, 2000 WI 72, ¶23, 236 Wis. 2d 48, 613 N.W.2d11
State v. Hajicek, 2001 WI 3, ¶15, 240 Wis. 2d 349, 620 N.W.2d
78112
State v. Hogan, 2015 WI 76, ¶34, 35, 36 364 Wis. 2d 167, 868
N.W.2d 12413
State v. Houghton, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 30, Wis.2d, N.W.2d
State v. Meye, No. 2010AP336-CR, unpublished slip op. (WI App
July 14, 2010)12
State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 13, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 63412
State v. Seibel, 163 Wis.2d 164, 183, 471 N.W.2d 226, 235 (1991)13
State v. Sisk, 2001 WI App 182, ¶7, 247 Wis. 2d 443, 634 N.W.2d
87712
State v. Swanson, 164 Wis.2d 437, 453 n. 6, 475 N.W.2d 148, 155
(1991)
State v. Truax, 2009 WI App 60, 767 N.W.2d 369 (2009)17
State v. Waldner, 206 Wis.2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996)12
State v. Young, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 424, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App.
1997)
United States Constitution Fourth Amendment11,12
Wisconsin Constitution Article I, Section 1111,12
WIG IL CDIMINAL no. 2663

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

WHETHER AN OFFICER, AFTER CONCLUDING AN ASSIST TO A DISABLED MOTORIST'S VEHICLE, WHICH INCLUDED:

- SPEAKING TO THE MOTORIST MORE THAN ONCE,
- LISTENING AS THE MOTORIST CALLED FOR A TOW TRUCK,
- INSTRUCTING THE MOTORIST TO STEER HER VEHICLE THROUGH A CONTROLLED INTERSECTION WHILE THE OFFICER PUSHED THE VEHICLE WITH THE SQUAD CAR,
- WATCHED AS THE MOTORIST PERFECTLY PERFORMED THE OFFICER'S INSTRUCTIONS ON EXACTLY WHERE TO PARK HER DISABLED VEHICLE OUT OF TRAFFIC,
- AND THEN WISHING THE MOTORIST TO "HAVE A GOOD ONE" BEFORE RETURNING TO THE SQUAD CAR;

MAY LATER RE-APPROACH THE VEHICLE AND ASK THE MOTORIST TO PERFORM FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS BASED ONLY ON THE ODOR OF AN INTOXICANT EMANATING FROM THE INTERIOR OF THE VEHICLE WHERE THE MOTORIST'S PASSENGER ALSO SAT THROUGHOUT THE DURATION OF THE OFFICER'S ASSISTANCE?

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: YES

STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Appellant submits that although the legal issues are clearly set forth in the brief, and the factual situation is adequately presented in the statement of facts, oral argument may serve to clarify and perhaps answer any additional questions the Court might have after reviewing the record and the brief.

Given that the present case is very fact specific it would be of little precedential value and thus publication is not being requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 10, 2016, the Defendant-Appellant, Misty D. Donough, was charged in a criminal complaint alleging 2 Counts. The first count was Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated- 2nd Offense, and the second count, was Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration above a .08% or more- 2nd Offense. (R-1)

The Complaint was filed on March 13, 2016 and Ms. Donough made her initial appearance on March 18, 2016. The case was initially tabbed to Circuit Court Judge Cynthia M. Davis. On April 8, 2016 a pretrial conference was held, discovery was received, and an offer extended by the State.

After review of the discovery, including the video footage of the interaction between the Defendant and the Officer, the Defense decided to draft a suppression motion. On June 2, 2016, the defendant by counsel filed her Motion to Suppress for Lack of Reasonable Suspicion to further detain and request the Defendant to perform Field Sobriety Tests. The State filed their response to Defendant's motion on June 14, 2016. It is this motion that is now the subject of the Defendant-Appellant's appeal.

On August 1, 2016 there was a judicial rotation and the case was transferred to Circuit Court Judge Michael J. Hanrahan. The case was then scheduled for a hearing on the motion for September 16, 2016. At that time testimony was taken from the arresting Officer, Jennifer

Moldenhauer, and both the State and Defense were given the opportunity of a full evidentiary hearing. (R-24)

At the conclusion of the hearing both sides argued their respective positions for the Court's consideration. In an oral ruling, the Court rendered its decision on that same date denying the Defendant-Appellant's motion.

Subsequently, on January 4, 2017, the Appellant with counsel, and having preserved the issue for appeal, entered a plea to Count 1 of the Criminal Complaint-Operating While Intoxicated 2nd Offense. Count 2 was dismissed by the Court by operation of law.

The Court rescheduled the matter for sentencing to take place on April 11, 2017. However, on April 10, 2017 the matter was yet again judicially transferred to Circuit Court Judge Michelle A. Havas.

Sentencing proceeded on April 11, 2017 and the Appellant, Ms. Donough, was ordered to serve 50 days in the House of Corrections with Huber privileges for work and treatment. Additionally, the Court ordered a 16-month driver's license revocation, and ignition interlock, AODA assessment, and a fine of \$350 plus costs. (R-17)

Counsel for the Appellant moved the Court to stay the sentence pending appeal, which the Court granted orally on the record. Subsequently, the Judgement of Conviction was entered on April 14, 2017.

On April 25, 2017 the Court signed and filed the written order staying the above sentence pending appeal and on that same date Counsel filed the Notice of Intent to Seek Post-Conviction Relief. (R-18,19)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Monday, February 15, 2016, at 1:33 p.m., Misty Donough and her passenger, Jennifer Teuscher, were coming from downtown Milwaukee, heading south on I-43/94, when Ms. Donough's vehicle became disabled on the southbound I-43 Howard Avenue off-ramp.

A Milwaukee County Sheriff's deputy, Jennifer Moldenhauer, and her training officer, was positioned on patrol a short distance away at the southbound I-43 Howard Avenue on-ramp. Upon Moldenhauer, and her training officer, seeing the vehicle disabled on the off-ramp near the controlled intersection; they proceeded to drive over the median and position the squad behind Ms. Donough's vehicle.

The squad video reveals that Ms. Donough exited her vehicle and was standing outside the driver's door on her cellphone. As the Deputy approached Ms. Donough, she spoke directly to Donough- face to face as Donough spoke on her cellphone to a towing company about her vehicle. At one point, they spoke outside the vehicle and minutes later while Donough sat in the vehicle, the deputy spoke to Donough while she (the deputy) held the door open by leaning on it with her arm.

While the deputy rested her arm on the open door of Ms. Donough's vehicle, she gave Donough directions to put the car in neutral, so the deputies could use their vehicle to push her out of the intersection and traffic.

Specifically, the deputy instructed Donough to turn left onto Howard Ave. and then right onto 5th Street. While this discussion was taking place, the video clearly captures Ms. Donough's speech and her replies to Deputy Moldenhauer's instructions. No slurred speech can be detected, nor does Deputy Moldenhauer make any comment to her training deputy about Donough having slurred speech, glassy or blood shot eyes, or smelling of alcohol.

All the while this conversation is taking place between Donough and the deputy; Donough's passenger- Jennifer Teuscher, exits the vehicle from her passenger side door on two occasions, despite the deputy's instruction for her to stay in the vehicle. Additionally, the video shows Ms. Teuscher exhibiting difficulty in exiting and walking around the vehicle.

Deputy Moldenhauer then goes back to her squad car where the training deputy then begins to instruct Moldenhauer on how to slowly move the squad car up to the bumper of Ms. Donough's vehicle, and how to slowly push the vehicle through the intersection.

The video reveals that Ms. Donough followed all of Deputy Moldenhauer's instructions. As the deputies began to push her vehicle,

Donough made the left turn onto Howard Avenue, turned right onto 5th Street and parked her vehicle appropriately and without incident next to the curb on 5th Street, all the while the vehicle was disabled and without power steering.

Conversation is caught on audio between the two deputies while pushing Ms. Donough's vehicle. They both comment on the passenger as appearing to be intoxicated. It is not until that conversation takes place that Deputy Moldenhauer then says she thinks she smells alcohol and wants to talk further with Ms. Donough.

When Deputy Moldenhauer approaches Ms. Donough, now for the third time, she asks for her driver's license and proof of insurance. In doing so, the deputy opens the driver's side door and puts her head into the vehicle over the steering wheel. Ms. Donough provides her license and insurance information to the deputy without difficulty.

However, by this time, it must be noted the Appellant's passenger has been sitting in the vehicle for 11 minutes and 37 seconds with the windows up and the car off.

Deputy Moldenhauer reports back to her training deputy that now she believes she smells an odor of alcohol. The training deputy suggests that she then goes back to Donough's vehicle and ask, "Who was driving when the vehicle stopped." As Donough replies that she was driving, the deputy asks her to step out to do some field sobriety tests.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER AN OFFICER, AFTER CONCLUDING AN ASSIST TO A DISABLED MOTORIST'S VEHICLE, WHICH INCLUDED:

- SPEAKING TO THE MOTORIST MORE THAN ONCE.
- LISTENING AS THE MOTORIST CALLED FOR A TOW TRUCK,
- INSTRUCTING THE MOTORIST TO STEER HER VEHICLE THROUGH A CONTROLLED INTERSECTION WHILE THE OFFICER PUSHED THE VEHICLE WITH THE SQUAD CAR,
- WATCHED AS THE MOTORIST PERFECTLY PERFORMED THE OFFICER'S INSTRUCTIONS ON EXACTLY WHERE TO PARK HER DISABLED VEHICLE OUT OF TRAFFIC,
- AND THEN WISHING THE MOTORIST TO "HAVE A GOOD ONE" BEFORE RETURNING TO THE SQUAD CAR;

MAY LATER RE-APPROACH THE VEHICLE AND ASK THE MOTORIST TO PERFORM FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS BASED ONLY ON THE ODOR OF AN INTOXICANT EMANATING FROM THE INTERIOR OF THE VEHICLE WHERE THE MOTORIST'S PASSENGER ALSO SAT THROUGHOUT THE DURATION OF THE OFFICER'S ASSISTANCE?

The legal analysis of this case falls within that murky blend between an officer's duties acting in the capacity of a community caretaker function versus a law enforcement investigator.

There is no dispute over the fact that this officer came upon the Appellant, Donough, acting in the capacity of a community caretaker function to assist her with her disabled vehicle on an off ramp of the interstate. Thus, that initial encounter while police assistance is taking place is not one within a stop and/or seizure under the 4th amendment.

However, at one point the encounter with law enforcement for Ms. Donough, which originated outside the bounds of the 4th Amendment, took a turn to the protections afforded by 4th Amendment standards.

"The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution offer protection against unreasonable searches and seizures.\(^3\) "The temporary detention of individuals during the stop of an automobile by the police, even if only for a brief period and for a limited purpose, constitutes a seizure of persons within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment.\)" *Popke*, 317 Wis.2d 118,\(^1\) 11 (quoted source omitted). Therefore, the "stop must not be unreasonable under the circumstances.\)" *Id.* A traffic stop is reasonable if supported by reasonable suspicion that a traffic violation has been or will be committed. *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79,\(^1\) 30, \(—\) Wis.2d\(—\),\(—\)

"[O]nce stopped, the driver may be asked questions reasonably related to the nature of the stop...." *State v. Betow*, 226 Wis.2d 90, 93, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct.App.1999). "If, during a valid traffic stop, the officer becomes aware of additional suspicious factors which are sufficient to give rise to an articulable suspicion that the person has committed or is committing an offense or offenses separate and distinct from the acts that prompted the officer's intervention in the first place, the stop may be extended, and a new investigation begun. The validity of the extension is tested in the same manner, and under the same criteria as the initial stop." *Id.* at 94–95."

"The question of what constitutes reasonableness is a common-sense test. What would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience." *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis.2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996) (citations omitted). "The reasonableness of a stop is determined based on the totality of the facts and circumstances." *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 13, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634."

The totality of the facts and circumstances consist of that,

"which are sufficient to give rise to an articulable suspicion that the person has committed or is committing an offense or offenses separate and distinct from the acts that prompted the officer's intervention in the first place, the stop may be extended, and a new investigation begun." *State v. Betow*, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 94-95, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, ¶19, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394. *State v. Meye*, No. 2010AP336-CR, unpublished slip op. (WI App July 14, 2010)."

"Whether police conduct violated this constitutional guarantee is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶23, 236 Wis. 2d 48, 613 N.W.2d 72. This Court reviews the circuit court's findings of historical or evidentiary facts under a clearly erroneous standard, but the circuit court's determination of constitutional fact is reviewed de novo. *State v. Sisk*, 2001 WI App 182, ¶7, 247 Wis. 2d 443, 634 N.W.2d 877; *State v. Hajicek*, 2001 WI 3, ¶15, 240 Wis. 2d 349, 620 N.W.2d 781."

"A law enforcement officer may stop a vehicle when he or she reasonably believes the driver is violating, or has violated, a traffic law. E.g. State v. Hogan, 2015 WI 76, ¶34, 364 Wis. 2d 167, 868 N.W.2d 124; State v. Betow, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 93, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999). A law enforcement officer may extend the stop if he or she becomes aware of additional factors which "give rise to an articulable suspicion that the person has committed or is committing an offense or offenses" separate from the violation that prompted the officer's initial investigation. State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, ¶19, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394 (quoting Betow, 226 Wis. 2d at 94-95). This extended inquiry must be supported by reasonable suspicion. Hogan, 364 Wis. 2d 167."

"A determination of whether an officer had reasonable suspicion depends on the totality of the circumstances. *Id.*, ¶36. It is a "common sense test: under all the facts and circumstances present[ed], what would

a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience." *Colstad*, 260 Wis. 2d 406, ¶8 (quoting *State v. Young*, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 424, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997)). "Although officers sometimes will be confronted with behavior that has a possible innocent explanation, a combination of behaviors—all of which may provide the possibility of innocent explanation—can give rise to reasonable suspicion." *Hogan*, 364 Wis. 2d 167, ¶36.

In State v. Swanson, the Court was specific in its analysis and indicated,

"the odor of intoxicants from Laufenberg's breath, ... is not enough to constitute "reasonable suspicion". *State v. Swanson*, 164 Wis.2d 437, 453 n. 6, 475 N.W.2d 148, 155 (1991). In *Swanson*, the Supreme Court cited three indicia of defendant's behavior which justified a reasonable suspicion that the defendant was operating under the influence of an intoxicant: first, erratic driving; second, the odor of intoxicants; and third, the approximate time of the incident. Id. The court said: "Taken together, these indicia form a basis for a reasonable suspicion that Swanson was driving while intoxicated." Id. (emphasis added). See *State v. Seibel*, 163 Wis.2d 164, 183, 471 N.W.2d 226, 235 (1991), where we held that similar factors add up to a reasonable suspicion but not probable cause."

Furthermore, drinking and driving are not unlawful. Not only does this reality exist in the pattern jury instruction - "not every person who has consumed an alcoholic beverage is 'under the influence' as that term is used here," WIS JI-CRIMINAL, no. 2663 — but it is clear in the terminology of the statute itself. Wisconsin has not prohibited driving after consuming intoxicants.

Unlike *Swanson* and *Seibel*, in this case the video exhibit (Exhibit 2) clearly shows that this Deputy had ample time to not only converse with Donough, but examine her speech patterns, gait and ability to multi-task while on the phone. Additionally, this deputy certainly felt Donough was capable of handling her motor vehicle to instruct her to guide the vehicle in neutral two blocks away from where the vehicle was found disabled. The time of day in the afternoon certainly lent daylight clarity to take a good look at Ms. Donough. Equally, the afternoon hours do not lend an additional clue to tack onto reasonable suspicion.

At one point, the Deputy testified she was not in a position close enough to Ms. Donough to smell the odor of intoxicants and that's why she wanted to go back and speak again to Ms. Donough. However, likewise the deputy also testified that she was face to face with Ms. Donough and did not detect an odor of intoxicants. (App. 107 P. 15)

"Reasonable suspicion" in all cases develop upon meeting the driver, whether the stop was under an investigative law enforcement - 4th Am protected stop, or an encounter under a community caretake function. When one approaches a vehicle and its driver, an immediate initial assessment is made about the driver and the circumstances, whether you're a police officer, a tow truck driver, or a citizen helping another citizen. As a police officer, the greater the experience, the easier to make a more accurate assessment. But this was this officer's first OWI case.

It is disingenuous for the deputy to later type a report stating that a Strong odor of intoxicants were present, glassy eyes and slurred speech. If this Deputy truly smelled an intoxicant coming from Donough's breath and saw glassy eyes- it would have happened 1 of the first 2 times they spoke. As Deputy Moldenhauer's first OWI stop, she is with a training officer. That training officer did not step out of the squad to meet Ms. Donough. (App. 108, R- 24, pps. 29-32).

It simply is not credible after speaking with Ms. Donough and asking her to perform additional tasks in the operation, control and handling of her vehicle to then claim an odor of intoxicant is present therefore reasonable suspicion is present to request field sobriety tests.

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