RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

04-12-2018

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2017AP002000-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

MISTY DAWN DONOUGH,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHELLE ACKERMAN HAVAS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

William G. Davidson Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1097538 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office 821 West State Street, Room 405 Milwaukee, WI 53233-1485 (414) 278-4646

ISSUE PRESENTED
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION2
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT
I. The circuit court correctly denied Donough's motion to suppress evidence because specific and articulable facts warranted a reasonable belief that Donough operated her vehicle while intoxicated
A. Officers are permitted to extend an otherwise lawful seizure when reasonable suspicion exists independent of that which formed the basis for the initial intrusion
B. Deputy Moldenhauer reasonably believed Donough had operated her vehicle while intoxicated5
CONCLUSION9

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES CITED

Page
Byrnes v. City of Manchester, NH, 848 F. Supp. 2d 146 (D.N.H. 2012)8
<i>In re Refusal of Anagnos</i> , 2012 WI 64, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675
<i>Pindel v. Czerniejewski</i> , 185 Wis. 2d 892, 519 N.W.2d 702 (Ct. App. 1994)6
State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990)
State v. Anson, 2005 WI 96, 282 Wis. 2d 629, 698 N.W.2d 776
State v. Asboth, 2017 WI 76, 376 Wis. 2d 644, 898 N.W.2d 541
State v. Betow, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999)4
State v. Brereton, 2013 WI 17, 345 Wis. 2d 563, 826 N.W.2d 369
State v. Buchanan, 2011 WI 49, 334 Wis. 2d 379, 799 N.W.2d 7755
State v. Eason, 2001 WI 98, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625
State v. Gonzalez, 2014 WI 124, 359 Wis. 2d 1, 856 N.W.2d 580
State v. Kennedy, 2014 WI 132, 359 Wis 2d 454 856 N W 2d 834

State v. Larson,
215 Wis. 2d 155, 572 N.W.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1997)9
State v. Nesbit, 2017 WI App 58,
378 Wis. 2d 65, 902 N.W.2d 2668
State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81,
327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 5924
State v. Post, 2010 WI App 155,
330 Wis. 2d 159, 793 N.W.2d 1045
State v. Samuel, 2002 WI 34,
252 Wis. 2d 26, 643 N.W.2d 4233
State v. Young, 2006 WI 98,
294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 7294, 5, 8, 9
Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968))5, 9
United States v. Simpson,
609 F.3d 1140 (10th Cir. 2010)8
WISCONSIN STATUTES CITED
§ 346.63
§ 346.63

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2017AP002000-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

MISTY DAWN DONOUGH,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHELLE ACKERMAN HAVAS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did Milwaukee County Sheriff's Deputy Jennifer Moldenhauer have the requisite reasonable suspicion to extend Donough's seizure to include inquiry into whether Donough may have operated her vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant?

The circuit court answered, "yes."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication. The briefs in this matter can fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on the issues. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(1)(b). Further, as a matter to be decided by one judge, this decision will not be eligible for publication. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

While on routine patrol on Monday, February 15, 2016, Milwaukee County Deputy Sheriff Jennifer Moldenhauer and her training officer came upon a disabled vehicle in traffic on an off-ramp near Howard Avenue at approximately 1:35 p.m. (R24:8). Two individuals occupied the vehicle with the driver having been identified as Misty Donough. (R24:10). After some brief interaction with Donough, Deputy Moldenhauer decided to push Donough's disabled vehicle to the side of the road out of traffic. (R24:11). Just before pushing Donough's vehicle out of traffic, Deputy Moldenhauer observed Donough's passenger to be unsteady on her feet and stumbling as she exited Donough's vehicle. (R24:12).

Soon after pushing Donough's vehicle out of traffic, Deputy Moldenhauer smelled the odor of alcoholic beverage and observed Donough to have glassy eyes. (R24:15). After making her observations, Deputy Moldenhauer then informed her training officer that she believed Donough was intoxicated. (R24:15). Deputy Moldenhauer then asked Donough to perform field sobriety tests. (R24:16).

Donough was then cited for Operating While Under the Influence and Operating With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration Second Offense in violation of Wisconsin Statutes Section 346.63(1)(a)-(b). (R2). On March 10, 2016, a criminal complaint was issued charging Donough with the offenses for which she had been cited.

On June 2, 2016, Donough filed a motion to suppress alleging that Deputy Moldenhauer illegally extended her detention without reasonable suspicion to have done so. (R4).

On September 16, 2016, Deputy Moldenhauer testified at an evidentiary hearing regarding Donough's motion to suppress evidence. (R24). Following the evidentiary hearing, the circuit court, the Honorable Michael J. Hanrahan presiding, issued a decision from the bench denying Donough's motion to suppress evidence having concluded that Deputy Moldenhauer was permitted to ask Donough to complete field sobriety tests after having observed her eyes to have been glassy and the odor of alcohol on her breath. (R24:60). Among its findings, the circuit court found that Deputy Moldenhauer "collected the evidence that led her to believe the defendant had been drinking and may be under the influence while she was still executing her community caretaker function." (R24:56).

Donough entered a plea of no contest to Operating While Intoxicated on January 4, 2016 with the circuit court sentencing Donough, in part, to incarceration of fifty days. (R17). This appeal follows Donough's conviction in the circuit court. (R19).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the circuit court's denial of a motion to suppress evidence, this Court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous, but reviews its application of the facts to constitutional principles de novo. *State v. Gonzalez*, 2014 WI 124, ¶ 6, 359 Wis. 2d 1, 856 N.W.2d 580 (quoting *State v. Samuel*, 2002 WI 34, ¶ 15, 252 Wis. 2d 26, 643 N.W.2d 423).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court correctly denied Donough's motion to suppress evidence because specific and articulable facts warranted a reasonable belief that Donough operated her vehicle while intoxicated.

Defendant-Appellant Misty Dawn Donough was convicted of Operating While Intoxicated Second Offense in violation of Section 346.63(1)(a) of the Wisconsin Statutes on January 4, 2017. (R14). She now appeals from the judgment of conviction asserting that the circuit court erred in denying her pre-trial

motion to suppress evidence. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, p. 18). Donough argues that she was unreasonably seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution because Deputy Jennifer Moldenhauer lacked the requisite reasonable suspicion to extend Donough's initial lawful seizure. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, p. 18).

Donough's argument fails because it disregards pertinent facts and law. The circuit court appropriately denied Donough's motion to suppress evidence and this Court should affirm the judgment of conviction.

A. Officers are permitted to extend an otherwise lawful seizure when reasonable suspicion exists independent of that which formed the basis for the initial intrusion.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects individuals from unreasonable searches and seizures. *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. Warrantless seizures are presumptively unreasonable. *State v. Asboth*, 2017 WI 76, ¶ 12, 376 Wis. 2d 644, 898 N.W.2d 541 (quoting *State v. Brereton*, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 24, 345 Wis. 2d 563, 826 N.W.2d 369). Certain warrantless seizures may be reasonable—and thus lawful, however, "where a law enforcement officer is 'serving as a community caretaker to protect persons and property." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 14, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592).

Donough has not challenged the initial seizure and the parties agree that Deputy Moldenhauer acted in a community caretaker function when she seized Donough on Monday, February 15, 2016. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, p. 10).

An officer may extend a lawful seizure and begin a new investigation if, during that lawful seizure, she "becomes aware of additional suspicious factors which are sufficient to give rise to [reasonable suspicion that is] separate and distinct from [] that [which] prompted the officer's intervention in the first place." *State v. Betow*, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 94-95, 593 N.W.2d 499, 502 (Ct. App. 1999).

Reasonable suspicion means that the officer "possess[es] specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot." *Young* at ¶ 21 (citation omitted). "A mere hunch that a person has been, is, or will be involved in criminal activity is insufficient." *Id.* (citing *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 27, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 1883 (1968)). However, reasonable suspicion does not require that officers first "rule out the possibility of innocent behavior" before seizing an individual. *Id.* (quoting *State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763, 766 (1990)). Wisconsin courts have defined "reasonable suspicion" as follows:

Although it is not possible to state precisely what the term reasonable suspicion means, it is a "commonsense nontechnical conception(s) that deal[s] with 'the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act." What is certain is that reasonable suspicion is "a less demanding standard than probable cause." The information necessary to establish reasonable suspicion can be less in both content and reliability than the information needed to establish probable cause. In other words, the required showing of reasonable suspicion is low, and depends upon the facts and circumstances of each case.

State v. Buchanan, 2011 WI 49 ¶ 9, 334 Wis. 2d 379, 389, 799 N.W.2d 775, 780-81 (quoting *State v. Eason*, 2001 WI 98 ¶ 19, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 226-27, 629 N.W.2d 625, 633).

The test for reasonable suspicion "is based on the totality of the circumstances, which is a fact-dependent test." *State v. Post*, 2010 WI App 155, ¶ 23, 330 Wis. 2d 159, 793 N.W.2d 104 (emphasis added) (citation omitted).

B. Deputy Moldenhauer reasonably believed Donough had operated her vehicle while intoxicated.

Donough appears to claim that Deputy Moldenhauer lacked reasonable suspicion to believe that Donough had operated her vehicle while intoxicated. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, p. 17). Donough concludes, in part, that "an odor of alcohol in the interior of the vehicle, and later reporting after prompting that Ms. Donough's eyes were glassy, is simply not sufficient for reasonable suspicion of being 'under the influence.'"

Donough's argument, however, is fatally flawed because it fails to fully consider the facts here. Indeed, a complete review of the record does reveal facts sufficient to reach the nondemanding standard of reasonable suspicion required to justify an investigatory stop or seizure—or the extension thereof.

The circuit court made the following factual findings:

- 1) Deputy Moldenhauer and her training officer came upon a vehicle stopped in traffic and inquired with the driver, Donough, as to what might have been wrong with the vehicle;
- 2) Deputy Moldenhauer was not in a closed environment, nor did she come face-to-face with Donough at any time prior to pushing Donough's car out of traffic;
- 3) While speaking on her phone, Donough was turning away from Deputy Moldenhauer;
- 4) After pushing Donough's car out of traffic, Deputy Moldenhauer returned to request Donough's driver license and insurance information;
- 5) Only after requesting her driver license and insurance information did Deputy Moldenhauer first notice the odor of alcohol *on Donough's breath*;
- 6) After noticing the odor of alcohol on Donough's breath, Deputy Moldenhauer indicated to her training officer that she believed Donough had been drinking;
- 7) Not until speaking with Donough about her driver license and insurance information was Deputy Moldenhauer ever in very close proximity to Donough; and
- 8) Deputy Moldenhauer noticed Donough to have glassy eyes.

(R24:54-59).

Importantly, the circuit court found credible Deputy Moldenhauer's testimony. (R24:55). In Wisconsin, the trial court is the "ultimate arbiter of both the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to each witness'

testimony." *State v. Anson*, 2005 WI 96 ¶ 32, 282 Wis. 2d 629, 650, 698 N.W.2d 776, 787 (quoting *Pindel v. Czerniejewski*, 185 Wis. 2d 892, 898, 519 N.W.2d 702 (Ct. App. 1994) (citations omitted)).

Despite Donough's frequent attempts to impugn her credibility (e.g., "It simply is not credible . . . to then claim an odor of intoxicant is present"; "If this Deputy truly smelled an intoxicant coming from Donough's breath and saw glassy eyes"; "Furthermore, if any of that really existed as claimed by the officer" (R24:15).), Deputy Moldenhauer's testimony is wholly consistent with the circuit court's factual findings. (R24:8-17).

During direct examination, Deputy Moldenhauer testified that she was "probably about five feet away" when she first began her contact with Donough. (R24:11). She also testified that "[Donough] was more into her phone than me, so I didn't really make a lot of contact with her. I was just asking her questions about the vehicle." (R24:11). Only after pushing Donough's vehicle out of traffic did Deputy Moldenhauer have "close contact" with Donough. (R24:15). It was during that close contact with Donough that Deputy Moldenhauer was able to observe the odor of alcoholic beverages and glassy eyes. (R24:15).

Similarly, Deputy Moldenhauer testified during cross examination that she not have Donough's full attention during their initial contact. (R24:24). She also testified that in speaking with her training officer, Deputy Moldenhauer indicated that she "wanted to talk to [Donough] some more because I could smell what I believed to be alcohol." (R24:39).

Later, Deputy Moldenhauer testified during re-direct examination that in approaching Donough to ask for her phone number, she "wanted to confirm that what I did indeed smell *coming from the defendant* was an alcoholic beverage." (R24:46) (emphasis added). Deputy Moldenhauer then testified that she did confirm that odor and subsequently asked Donough to exit her vehicle for the purpose of completing field sobriety testing. (R24:46).

Notably, Deputy Moldenhauer also testified that she observed Donough's passenger stumbling outside the vehicle before she and her training officer then pushed Donough's vehicle out of traffic. (R24:12). Though Deputy Moldenhauer never testified that this particular observation factored in her belief that Donough may have been impermissibly intoxicated, "the legal determination of reasonable suspicion is an objective test." *In re Refusal of Anagnos*, 2012 WI 64, ¶ 60, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675. Because "reasonable suspicion is by no means dependent upon the subjective belief of the officer", this Court should include Deputy Moldenhauer's observations as they relate to Donough's stumbling passenger in its analysis here. *See Id*.

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